
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DI STRIC T OF KENTUCKY 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
PIKEVILLE 

UNITED ST ATES OF Al\1ERJCA 

V. 

BLAC K DIAMOND COAL, LLC and 
WALTER PERKINS 

THE GRAND JU RY CHARG ES: 

COUNT I 
30 U.S.C. § 820(d) 

A. At a ll times relevant to this Indictment: 

Eaeteru Diat;ic~. ~f Kt'ntuck.11 
il.. it: 

AuG 1 7 2022 
ATL:l.'4~ GN 

r. R03ERi R CARR 
,LERK Ii s DISTRICT cnu1n 

1. BLACK DIAMO D COAL, LLC was the Kentucky corporate 

operator of the Mine # I underground coal mine in Floyd County. Kenh1d :y. As defined 

in T itle 30, United States Code. Section 802(d). the Mine #1 was subj ect to the provisions 

of the Federa l Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, as amended. under 30 U.S.C. § 803. 

in that BLACK DIAl\10ND COAL, LLC, utilized equipment manufactured outside the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky that entered into or affrcted int~rstate commerce. 

2 . \VAL TER PERKINS was the certi fied dust-sampler at the Mine 

# 1. He was an agent as defined in 30 U.S.C. §§ 802(e) & 820(c). 
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3. BLACK DIAMOND COAL, LLC acted through its agents and 

employees, including WALTER PERKINS and other miners, who acted ,vi thin the 

scope of their agency and employment for the benefit, at least in part, of BLACK 

DIAMOND COAL, LLC. 

4. In order to protect the mining industry's "most precious resource -

the miner;· Congress passed the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977. as 

amended by the MINER Act of 2006. A stated purpose of the Mine Act was to provide 

working conditions in underground coal mines sufficiently free of rcspirable dust 

concentrations so as to permit each miner the opportunity to work underground during 

the period of his or her entire adult life without incurring any disability from ·'black lung" 

and silicosis. 

5. Black lung is an occupational lung disease typically not incurred by 

the general population. When coal dust particles enter the lungs, they irritate the delicate 

lung tissue and eventually fonn massive impenetrable fibrous tissue that significantly 

restricts the lung·s functions and causes scarring. which can lead to lung failure and 

death. Once black lung develops. it cannot be reversed. There are no specific treatments 

to cure black lung. The chronic effects of black lung may progress even after the miners 

are no longer exposed to respirable coal dust resulting in increasing disability and death. 

6. Lmvering the concentration of respirable coal mine dust in the air 

that miners breathe is the only means of preventing diseases black lung. Major sources of 

dust generation in continuous mining operations are continuous mining machines, shuttle 
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cars and roof boilers. Major control melhods for dust in mining operations are water and 

ventilation control systems. 

7. MSHA · s mandatory health and safety standards require mining 

companies. or ·'operators:• to monitor the respirable coal dust in their min~s every quarter 

on consecutive normal production shifts unti I 15 valid representative samples are taken. 

30 C.f .R. § 70.208. This monitoring is also L:alled sampling. 

8. Sampling must be conducted by a certified person. 30 C.F.R. 

§ 70.202(a). A certified person has taken a class and passed a test. 30 C.F.R. § 70.202(6). 

Sampling is done using a continuous personal dust monitor (or CPDM). 30 C.F.R. 

§ 70.20l(a). CPDMs are sometimes referred to as "dust pumps:· CPDMs must be worn 

by miners perfonning specific jobs at specific locations. 30 C.F.R. § 70.208 (designated 

occupations) & 30 C.F.R. § 70.209 (designated areas). 

9. Each CPDM must be worn and operated by the miners being 

sampled for a set period of time, portal-to-portal. 30 C.F.R. § 70.20l(c). Portal-to-portal 

sampling means the miners must continue to wear the pump. and continue to sample. the 

entire time they are underground. 30 C.F.R. § 70.20l(c). 

10. CPDMs must run the entire sampling period. 30 C.F.R. § 70.20 l(c). 

The certified person who is performing the sampling must make certain checks to ensure 

the CPDM is working properly. 30 C.F.R. § 70.205(c). Each CPDM must remain with 

the miner who is heing sampled. 30 C.F.R. § 70.208(b). 
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11. A sample is only valid if the operator mined a nomrnl production 

shift of at least 80 percent of the average production of the most recent 30 production 

shifts. 30 C.F.R. § 70.2. 

12 . The operator is required to maintain the average concentration of 

respirable dust in the mine atmosphere during each shift not to exceed 1.5 milligrams of 

dust per cubic meter of air as measured by the CPDM. 30 C.F.R. § 70. lO0(a) . 

13. The certified person must validate. certify. and transmit 

electronically to MSHA within 24 hours after the end of the sampling shift all sample 

data file information collected and stored in the CPDMi including the sampling status 

conditions encountered when sampling. 30 C.F.R. § 70.2I0(f). 

B. The Offense 

14. On or about October 8. 2020, in Floyd County. in the Eastern 

District of Kentucky, 

BLACK DIAMOND COAL, LLC, 

in a matter within the jurisdiction of the United States Department of Labor. Mine Safety 

and Health Administration. willfully violated the mandatory health and safety standards 

found in 30 C.F.R. Part 70 by failing to keep a CPDM on the designated miner portal-to-

portal. but instead running the CPDM on the surface in clean air. all in violation of 30 

U.S.C. § 820(d) and 30 C.F.R. Part 70. 

COUNT 2 
30 u.s.c. § 820(f) 

15. Paragraphs 1-13 are incorporated herein by reference. 
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16. From on or about October 6. 2020. and continuing through on or 

about October 7, 2020. in floyd County, in the Eastern District of Kentucky. 

BLACK DIAMOND COAL, LLC. 

in a matter within the jurisdiction of the United States Department of Labor. Mine Safety 

and Health Administration. did knowingly make and certify false statements and 

representations in its sampling data electronically submined to MSHA. in that it 

knowingly submitted CPDM data representing va lid shift samples when in fac t. the 

CPDM was not worn by the designated miner portal-to-portal as required by the 

regulations, all in violation of 30 U.S.C. § 820(f). 

COUNT3 
30 U.S.C. § 820(c) 

17. Paragraphs 1-13 are incorporaced herein by reference. 

18. On or about October 8. 2020. in Floycl County. in the: Eastern 

District of Kentucky, 

WALTER PERKINS, 

while serving as the certified person in charge of sampling, in a maaer within the 

jurisdiction of the United States Department of Labor~ Mine Safety and Health 

Administration. knowingly violated the mandatory health and safety standards found in 

30 C.F.R. Part 70 by fai ling to keep a CPDM on the designated miner portal-to-portal but 

instead running the CPDM on the surface in clean air, all in violat ion of 30 U.S.C. 

§ 820(c) and 30 C.F.R. Part 70. 
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COUNT4 
18 u.s.c. § 1001 

19. Paragraphs l-13 are incorporated herein by reference. 

20. On or about October 8. 2020, in Floyd County. in the Eastern 

District of Kentucky. 

\\'ALTER PERKfNS, 

in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of government of the United 

States, specifically the Department of Labor. Mine Safety and Health Administration. did 

wi llfully and knowingly make and cause to be made a material false, fictitious. and 

fraudulent statement and representation. to wit: he told a federal certified mine inspector 

investigating the operations at Mine # l that he had assigned the CPDM to the miner 

operator, but that the pump had a malfunction when in truth and in fact he knew that he 

never gave the CPDM to the miner operator and the CPDM did not have any 

malfunctions. all in violation of 18 U.S.C. § lO0I(a)(2). 

COUNT 5 
18 u.s.c. § 1001 

21. Paragraphs 1- l 3 are incorporated hert!in by reter~nce. 

22. On or about Febrnary 4, 2021. in Floyd County. in the Eastern 

District of Kentucky. and elsewhere. 

WALTER PERKLNS. 

in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the government of the 

United States. specifically the Department of Labor. Mine Safety and Health 
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Administration. wi llfu lly and knowingly made and caused to be made a material false. 

fict itious. and fraudulent statement and representation to wit: he told a federal MSHA 

special investigator. when asked why the CPDM was running outside on October 8. 2020. 

that he had taken the CPDM in that morning but had .. brought it right back out because it 

had quit. The miner man hollered at me. said that the pump went off and said diagnosis 

failure·· and that he had been "having problems with it." when in truth and in fact 

WALTER PERKINS kne\v that he never gave the CPDM to the miner operator. the 

miner operator never yelled at him. and the CPDM did not have any malfunctions. in 

violation of I 8 U.S.C. § 100 l(a)(2). 

CARLTON S. SHI ER, IV 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

A TRUE BILL 
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COUNT 1: 

COUNT 2: 

COUNT 3: 

PENALTIES 

Not more than five years probation and/or a fine of not more than 
$250.000.00 or t,viee the gross gain or loss to a person other than 
defendant 

Not less than one year nor more than five years probation and/or a 
fine of not more than $200,000.000 or twice the gross gain or loss to 
a person other than defendant 

Not more than one year imprisonment and/or a fine of $250.000.00. 
and not more than one year supervised release 

COUNTS 4 & 5: Not more than five years imprisonment and/or a fine of $250.000, 
and not more than three years supervised release 

PLUS: 

PLUS: 

Mandatory special assessment of $125 for Count I ( organization 
misdemeanor), $400 for Count 2 ( organization felony). $25 for 
Count 3 (individual misdemeanor), $100 for Counts 4 and 5 
(individual felony). 

Restitution, if applicable. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
PIKEVILLE 

 
CRIMINAL ACTION NO. 7:22-CR-12-REW 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,        PLAINTIFF, 
 
V.     ORDER FOR ISSUANCE OF SUMMONS 
 
BLACK DIAMOND COAL, LLC,             DEFENDANT. 
 Registered Agent: Randall Fleming 
         2328 Thistle Park 
         Lexington, Ky  40509 

 The Court ORDERS that the Motion of the United States for issuance of summons is 

GRANTED, and Summons shall be issued for the Defendant, Black Diamond Coal, LLC, to 

APPEAR in the United States District Court at Pikeville, Kentucky, on THURSDAY, 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2022, at the  hour of 10:00 a.m., and shall DIRECT the Defendant to contact 

the United States Probation Office in Pikeville, Kentucky, at telephone number (606) 437-6320, 

within 48 hours of receipt of the Summons, excluding weekends, in order to arrange an interview 

by the United States Probation Office for the purpose of obtaining information pertaining to the 

pretrial release of the Defendant. 

 Signed August 18, 2022. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

In re: Criminal Actions 
)
)
)

      STANDING REFERRAL ORDER 

***  ***  *** 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1) and Fed. R. Crim. P. 59(a), the Court 

designates the United States Magistrate Judge for this Division and docket, per Rule 

59(a), to determine any pre-trial motion that does not dispose of a charge or defense.1

The Court generally retains for decision rearraignment and dispositive motions 

(including those specifically listed in Rule 59(b)). The Court excepts from the referral 

motions to alter the trial date or related deadlines (including motions to alter the 

defensive motion deadline) and motions in limine (including Daubert motions). 

The Court, in consultation with the assigned Magistrate Judge, may alter this 

standing referral on a motion-by-motion or case-by-case basis, as appropriate, by 

subsequent Order. 

This the 18th day of June, 2018. 

1 This is in addition to the standing District practice that a Magistrate Judge will conduct 
all preliminary proceedings, including initial appearances, arraignments, and hearings on 
the issue of pretrial detention or release. 

Eastern District of Kentucky 

F I L E D

Robert R. Carr 
Clerk, U.S. District Court 

Jun - 18 2018

General Order 18-10
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UNITED ST A TES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
PIKEVILLE 

i;;astern Di,trict of Kfntucky 
F ! LED 

At.JG 1 7 2022 
A LOI, N 

CRIMINAL ACTION NO. }:i:z.-c n-o l?.-- (lf,v-/ 
ROBERT R CARR 

':LERK U S DISTRICT COURT 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. MOTION OF UNITED STATES 
FOR ISSUANCE OF SUMMONS 

PLAINTIFF 

BLACK DIAMOND COAL, LLC 
Registered Agent: Randall Fleming 

DEFENDANT 

* * * * * 
The United States moves for the issuance of summons for the presence of the 

Defendant, BLACK DIAMOND COAL, LLC, to answer the felony charges returned by 

the Grand Jury on August 17, 2022. 

Respectfully submitted, 

CARL TONS. SHIER, IV 
UNITED ST ATES ATTORNEY 

By: c~-,-------
Emily K. Greenfield 
Assistant United States Attorney 
260 W. Vine Street, Suite 300 
Lexington, Kentucky 40507-1612 
(859) 685-481 l 
FAX (859) 233-2658 
Emily .Greenfield@usdoj .gov 
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UNITED ST ATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
PIKEVILLE 

CRIMINAL ACTION NO. }·,z:z.., C(l.- O{ Z.- (l,,c,vJ 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. ORDER FOR ISSUANCE OF A SUMMONS 

PLAINTIFF 

BLACK DIAMOND COAL, LLC DEFENDANT 
Registered Agent: Randall Fleming 

* * * * * 
The Court ORDERS that the Motion of the United States for issuance of summons 

is GRANTED, and Summons shall be ISSUED for the Defendant, BLACK DIAMOND 

COAL, LLC, to APPEAR in United States District Court at Pikeville, Kentucky, on 

, 2022, at , and shall DIRECT the Defendant to contact the ------ ----

United States Probation Office in Pikeville, Kentucky, at telephone number (606) 437-

6320, within 48 hours of the receipt of the Summons, excluding weekends, in order to 

arrange an interview by the United States Probation Office for the purpose of obtaining 

information pertaining to the pretrial release of the Defendant. 

On this __ day of _________ 2022. 

Copies: United States Marshal 
United States Probation 

UNITED ST A TES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

Emily K . Greenfield, Assistant United States Attorney 
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Eastern Distnct ol Kentucky 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
PIKEVILLE 

CRIMINAL ACTION NO. 1-'. t'Z..- l.{l.- 0\'2,-(loJJ 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. MOTION OF UNITED STATES 
FOR ISSUANCE OF SUMMONS 

F ED 

AUG 1 7 2022 
A LOl,JON 

ROBERT R CARR 
CLERK U S DIST RIC.,. COL,~T 

PLAINTIFF 

WALTER PERKINS DEFENDANT 

* * * * * 
The United States moves for the issuance of summons for the presence of the 

Defendant, WALTER PERKINS, to answer the felony charges returned by the Grand 

Jury on August 17, 2022. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

CARL TON S. SHIER, IV 
UNITED ST A TES ATTORNEY 

Gr, ) j\ 
Emily !¢. Greenfield 
Assistant United States Attorney 
260 W. Vine Street, Suite 300 
Lexington, Kentucky 40507-1612 
(859) 685-4811 
FAX (859) 233-2658 
Emily.Greenfield@usdoj.gov 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
PIKEVILLE 

CRIMIN AL ACTION NO. 3:: '. 2-'2.. - C rt-· o l 1.-- f2.c.,w' 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. ORDER FOR ISSUANCE OF A SUMMONS 

WALTER PERKINS 

* * * * * 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANT 

The Court ORDERS that the Motion of the United States for issuance of 

summons is GRANTED, and Summons shall be ISSUED for the Defendant, WALTER 

PERKINS, to APPEAR in United States District Court at Pikeville, Kentucky, on 

, 2022, at , and shall DIRECT the Defendant to contact the ------ ---

United States Probation Office in Pikeville, Kentucky, at telephone number (606) 437-

6320, within 48 hours of the receipt of the Summons, excluding weekends, in order to 

arrange an interview by the United States Probation Office for the purpose of obtaining 

information pertaining to the pretrial release of the Defendant. 

On this __ day of _________ 2022. 

Copies: United States Marshal 
United States Probation 

UNITED ST ATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

Emily K. Greenfield, Assistant United States Attorney 
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